
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda

Confident, Capable Council 
Scrutiny Panel
27 September 2017

Time 6.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Scrutiny

Venue Training Room, Ground Floor, Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 
1SH

Membership
Chair Cllr Louise Miles (Lab)
Vice-chair Cllr Andrew Wynne (Con)

Labour Conservative

Cllr Alan Bolshaw
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman
Cllr Caroline Siarkiewicz
Cllr Payal Bedi-Chadha
Cllr Paula Brookfield
Cllr Dr Michael Hardacre
Cllr Ian Brookfield
Cllr Craig Collingswood
Cllr Stephen Simkins

Cllr Udey Singh

Quorum for this meeting is three Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team:

Contact Julia Cleary
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 555046 or julia.cleary@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ 
Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 555046

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording, and use of social media in meetings, 
copies of which are displayed in the meeting room.

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS

1 Apologies 

2 Declarations of interest 

3 Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)
[To approve the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record]

4 Matters arising 
[To consider any matters arising from the minutes]

PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY

DISCUSSION ITEMS

5 Legal Services (Pages 7 - 14)
To consider should the Council extend its legal services to offer services to the third 
and public sector?

6 Digital Transformation Programme 2017 to 2019 
To consider a presentation from the Head of ICT on the Council’s Digital 
Transformation Programme 2017 to 2019.



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes

Confident, Capable 
Council Scrutiny Panel
Minutes - 21 June 2017

Attendance

Members of the Confident, Capable Council Scrutiny Panel

Cllr Alan Bolshaw
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman
Cllr Caroline Siarkiewicz
Cllr Andrew Wynne (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Paula Brookfield
Cllr Dr Michael Hardacre
Cllr Louise Miles (Chair)
Cllr Udey Singh
Cllr Ian Brookfield
Cllr Craig Collingswood

Employees

Colin Parr              Head of Governance
Denise Pearce      Head of Human Resources
Arif Sain                Head of Equalities
Neil White             Scrutiny Officer
Philippa Salmon    Democratic Services Officer

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

1 Apologies
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Simkins.

2 Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest submitted.

3 Minutes of previous meeting
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 15 March 2017 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.

4 Matters arising
There were no matters arising from the minutes of the last meeting. 

The Chair invited Panel members to share thoughts on the work programme for the 
year and invited Councillors to come forward with any proposals for agenda items. 
Possible items discussed included:

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes

 The budget – the process of budget setting, identifying any trends or issues
 Monitoring of the delivery of the budget throughout the year, including receiving 

the regular treasury and capital reports along with budget analysis
 The consultation process, with specific regards to the budget
 Workforce plans and succession planning
 The evolving role of the Council as an enabler rather than a provider
 Commissioning and the role of the Compliance Officer

In response to a question, the Head of Governance, clarified that the advice for 
Scrutiny Panel agendas to consist of two items was not a restriction but was intended 
to allow for more policy development through in-depth scrutiny. This advice was 
flexible and could be adapted depending on the needs of the Panels. 

Councillors raised concerns that regular monitoring reports would not fit within this 
recommendation. The Head of Governance reminded Councillors of the web library, 
which had been set up to free agendas of information only items. Councillors would 
be automatically notified when papers were uploaded on to the library and items 
relating to the Panel had recently been added. It was suggested that an information 
only section of the agenda could identify these papers and remind Councillors which 
papers had been uploaded since their last meeting.

Resolved that:

1. an update on the succession planning review group be presented at the next 
meeting, and

2. the link to the recent item on Equality in Employment Medical Capability 
dismissals uploaded to the web library be recirculated to the Panel members.

5 Equality Framework for Local Government
Arif Sain, Head of Equalities, updated the Panel on the Equality Peer Challenge 
Report for the City of Wolverhampton Council. 

The Head of Equalities informed the Panel that as recently as 14 months ago, the 
Council had not been in the Equalities Framework for Local Government. The latest 
inspection in April 2017, where the Council had been awarded ‘Achieving’ status, 
illustrated the progress that had been made.

The Panel congratulated the Equalities team on the impressive progress that had 
been made. Councillors commented that the list of strengths was extensive and 
much larger than the areas for consideration, with the praise for the Customer 
Services team well deserved. 

The Panel’s expressed concerns over the number of officers who were disclosing 
whether or not they had a disability. The Head of Human Resources confirmed that a 
campaign to raise awareness and identify disabilities was underway and that a 
briefing note would be circulated to members on how the Council compared 
nationally on the disclosure rate of staff declaring their disability. 

Following questions, the Head of Equalities confirmed that the team was fully 
resourced to aim for ‘Excellent’ status and that no barriers to equalities had been 
encountered in management structures.

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes

Resolved that:

1. the Equalities Team be congratulated on reaching ‘Achieving’ status in the 
Equality Framework for Local Government, and

2. further information be provided to show how the Council compared nationally in    
disability disclosure rates.

6 Equality in Employment Monitoring Report 2016/17
Denise Pearce, Head of Human Resources, presented the annual Equality in 
Employment Monitoring report, which complied with the requirement for public bodies 
to publish information demonstrating compliance with the Public-Sector Equality 
Duty, which came into force on 5 April 2011.

The Head of Human Resources advised that significant improvements had been 
made to the collection of data, which ensured that the analysis presented was as up 
to date as possible. The data and statistics in the report were correct as of the end of 
March 2017. The action plan appended to the report had also been presented to the 
Equalities Advisory Group who had approved the action plan with small 
amendments. 

The Head of Human Resources advised that collection of the data was the biggest 
issue as some employees were reluctant to disclose the information required. 
Different methods were being rolled out to generate a higher level of return. 

The Panel queried the graphs included in the report and the Head of Human 
Resources advised that the table on page 35 of the report was incorrect and that an 
updated version would be circulated to the Panel members. 

The Panel sought clarification on the reasons why 8 out of the 10 grievances 
recorded in 2015/16 were from female members of staff. The Panel requested that 
further examination of this be undertaken to assess whether there were significant 
similarities or trends being identified that needed to be addressed. The Head of 
Human Resources undertook to provide the Panel with a briefing note on this issue.

The Head of Human Resources stated that the grievance process was under review 
to ensure that it protected staff. The percentage of BAME (Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic) staff involved in disciplinary and grievance process was disproportionately 
high and further analysis was being undertaken to investigate the reasons for this. 
The Panel suggested that opportunities to shadow or mentor colleagues for BAME 
members of staff may help to reduce these figures. 

Resolved that:

1. an amended page 35 of the report be circulated to the Panel members, and

2. the Panel be provided with a briefing note on the 10 recorded grievances, outlining 
any significant similarities or trends.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC– 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 1 of  7

Confident, Capable Council 
Scrutiny Panel 27 September 2017 

Report title Legal Services

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Milkinderpal Jaspal Cabinet Member for 
Governance

Corporate Plan outcome Future Practice

Wards affected (All Wards);

Accountable Director Kevin O'Keefe, Director of Governance

Andy Moran, Lorraine Moses-
Copeman, Neil White

Service Director – 
Commercial, Solicitor,
Scrutiny Officer

Accountable employee

01902 554132

01902 554972

01902 550181

andy.moran@wolverhampton
.gov.uk, lorraine.moses-
copeman@wolverhampton.g
ov.uk, 
neil.white@wolverhampton.g
ov.uk

Recommendation:

The Confident, Capable Council Scrutiny Panel is asked to consider should the Council extend 
its legal services to offer services to the third and public sector?

1.0 Purpose
The Confident, Capable Council Scrutiny Panel is asked to consider can the Council    
extend its legal services to offer services to the third and public sector?

The Panel is being asked to undertake a piece of policy development to explore this area 
of work and consider whether it is something that the Council should pursue. The Panel 
after hearing from the witnesses are requested to draw up some recommendations to go 
to the Council’s cabinet on whether in principle the Council should take further action. If 
this is the case, it will be up to the Cabinet to determine whether to proceed and what the 
details might look like. 

2.0 Future of Legal Services
There is a compelling need for Councils to explore more radical options for delivering
legal services. Options may include greater partnership working (with both the private 
and public sector), shared services and alternative business structures.

Page 7

Agenda Item No: 5



This report is PUBLIC– 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 2 of  7

2.1 In the last ten years, the market for delivery of legal service to local authorities has 
changed significantly reflecting changes in: 

- The law: notably the Legal Services Act 2007 which opened the door for new suppliers 
by permitting non-solicitors to own and manage law firms through the creation of a 
variety of delivery models such as Alternative Business Structures (ABS) instead of the 
traditional legal firms which are based around partnership arrangements with the only 
investors being those who belong to the Solicitor profession 

- Financial pressure across local government requiring direct savings from the legal 
department: 

- How local authorities are providing services to the public which has a ripple effect on 
the demand profile for legal services 

- An increase in the supply of legal services from other local authorities nationally

2.2    ‘The Legal Department of the Future’ produced by The Local Government Lawyer which is 
underpinned by a survey of 100 heads of local authority legal services in England and 
Wales in July and November, 2015 identified the top three management challenges to 
be:
 cost control/budgetary challenges,
 lack of experience/resource in client departments (What this can mean in practice

is that less experienced officers seek reassurance more frequently from the legal 
team before taking decisions, adding to the department’s workload. Or they fail to 
obtain legal input in situations when they should do, leading to wrong decisions 
being taken and greater legal risk for the local authority), and

 recruitment and retention (This reflects the fact that three years ago the private 
sector was just coming out of the other side of the recession; now it is buoyant, 
particularly when it comes to recruiting in-demand areas of property, planning and 
regeneration).

2.3    Some 44% expect the overall volume of work to increase ‘significantly’ with a further third 
(37%) expect demand to increase ‘slightly’ (by 5-10%), meaning that, overall, four in five 
heads of legal services (81%) expect an increased workload.

2.4   The most in-demand practice areas that heads of legal services suggest are currently 
procurement/contracts, planning, property and child protection.

2.5   Those authorities currently selling legal services report that they are
principally selling to maintained schools (78%), academies and free schools (71%)
and other local authorities (67%). These were followed by: charities and not-for profit
organisations (35%); housing associations and ALMOs (33%); parish and
town councils (31%); police and crime commissioners (18%); and blue light
services (18%). Recently-established organisations such as combined authorities are also 
a source of work for some teams (14%).

Page 8



This report is PUBLIC– 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 3 of  7

2.6   The services that these local authority clients want to buy are: employment matters (50%); 
litigation and enforcement (42%); procurement and contracts (38%); property and asset 
management (38%); planning (27%); adult social services (27%); and child protection 
(27%).

3.0   Powers to charge or trade
        
3.1   Charging

Charging for services has been a feature of local government for a considerable time. For 
example:

 Specific powers to charge for services are contained in a variety of local government
  statutes. For example, section 19 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 

Act 1976 permits charging for the use of leisure and recreational facilities.

 The Local Government Act 2003 introduced a general power to charge for the 
provision of any discretionary service. The charging powers do not apply to services 
which an authority is mandated or has a duty to provide. However, councils can charge 
for discretionary services (that is, services they have power to provide but are not 
obliged or have a duty to provide by law).

   The recipient of the discretionary service must have agreed to pay for the provision of
   such services. The 2003 Act power cannot be used where charging is prohibited or 

where another specific charging regime applies. Charging is limited to cost recovery only.

 The charging provisions contained in the Localism Act 2011 follow, very closely, the
    requirements of the 2003 Act to allow local authorities to charge up to full cost recovery
    for discretionary services. The general power to charge is subject to a duty to secure 

that, taking one financial year with another, the income from charges does not
exceed the costs of provision.

As with the 2003 Act powers, charging for things done in exercise of the General Power 
of Competence within this Act is not a power to make a profit from those activities. So, 
authorities wishing to engage in commercial trading for profit will need to rely
on other powers to trade.

3.2     Trading
The legislation relevant to local authority trading uses the term ‘commercial purpose’
to describe trading activities. Government guidance suggests ‘commercial purpose’
means having a primary objective to make a profit from the trading activities in question.

For councils considering a new trading venture it will be essential to first determine
whether it is acting pursuant to a ‘commercial purpose’. If so, the law requires councils
to pursue that commercial purpose via a company. If not, alternative arrangements to
establishing a company are also explored below.

Page 9



This report is PUBLIC– 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 4 of  7

4.0   So how can the Council extend its legal services to offer services to the third and 
public sector?

4.1    In House Provision
This is largely seen nationally by local authorities as the "norm", where most services are 
provided In House, but are supplemented by shared services providers and external law 
firms as required on specialist issues.

This will continue the practise at the Council and the main reasons for remaining in house 
is that the Council will retain control of an in-house team and expertise with the flexibility to 
deliver the service as needs arise. It also allows a clear line of responsibility, accountability 
and governance.

However, there may not be the resources or expertise currently in house to deliver the 
services that are required by the voluntary sector or other public sector bodies. Any new 
posts would need to pay for themselves in extra income or saved external costs.

There could also be prioritisation issues and conflicts of interest within the authority along 
with a lack of sales and marketing experience and the cost of any additional potential 
regulation and indemnity insurance.

Remaining in house would mean that should the Council extend its legal services to offer 
services to the third and public sector it would only be able to so on a cost recovery basis.

4.2   Shared Service Delivery
Shared legal services in certain circumstances can be beneficial in drawing on existing 
expertise, capacity and purchasing power, and in some cases even creating profit by 
turning the shared services into a commercial venture.

However, there are a number of disadvantages of shared legal services which are:

 Viability of the model, upfront cost, procedures (i.e. any procurement process required, 
Solicitors Regulatory Authority (SRA) compliance if applicable) and disruption cancelling 
out long-term savings. This will largely depend upon the size and type of the model 
chosen. independent legal function; and a shared service would lead to a disconnection 
between the legal team and internal client departments.

 Disconnect between legal teams and local authorities if they are not working exclusively 
and closely with their own authority.

 Conflict of interest between prioritising work for own authority versus partner local 
authority.

 Cultural fit and decision-making process issues.

        The shared services model only really works successfully where there are willing partners 
to make it happen, as can be in the case in two tier areas. With little interest from potential 

Page 10



This report is PUBLIC– 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 5 of  7

partners to the Council for a shared legal service it is considered not viable, at this stage, 
to pursue this option.

4.3   Alternative business structures (“ABS”), including joint ventures
Since the introduction of the Legal Services Act 2007 it has become possible for law firms 
to be owned by non-lawyers and businesses which are not law firms. These are known as 
‘alternative business structures’ or ‘ABS’ and must be licensed by the SRA. 

An ABS is a limited company regulated by Companies House and subject to the normal 
company regulations, however there is an additional requirement that they are licensed by 
the SRA to conduct legal business. The licensing procedure is designed to ensure that the 
owners of an ABS are fit and proper persons to own a legal business and that the 
procedures in place to fund the company mirror those of a conventional legal practice with 
the object of protecting clients and their money. This means that local authorities can now 
set up a wholly owned company offering legal services for a commercial purpose, which 
permits it to offer legal services to other parts of the public sector and indeed to 
commercial companies who are carrying out local authority or other public sector 
functions.

Prior to setting up an ABS, the Council would need to approve a business case and meet 
SRA requirements which would include robust conflict, financial and risk management 
procedures.

Four local authority legal departments have become an ABS. One of these is Essex 
County Council whose initial forecasting had suggested that an ABS would be one of the 
key enablers for a growth strategy that could deliver additional surplus of £165,000, 
£963,000 and £1.8m from 2017/18 through to 2019/20.

Essex County Council have said that the ABS would enable Essex Legal Service “to grow 
its client base and pursue business not currently permitted under the constraints of local 
authority trading and the Solicitors Regulation Authority”.

The main reason for setting up an ABS are it creates an ability to work for anyone with a 
subsequent potential revenue income stream for the authority. As a separate company, it 
will have its own brand, keeps some risk away from the Council and could provide 
opportunities for third party investment in the service.

        The main reasons for not setting up an ABS are the council will lose overall control of the 
service; whether there is a sufficient market for the services and the risk that entails and 
whether sufficient arrangements would be available to manage/monitor the ABS.

5.0    Approach
The Committee will hear from the following witnesses in evidence sessions to help the 
Panel answer the question – should the Council extend its legal services to offer services 
to the third and public sector?

Page 11



This report is PUBLIC– 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 6 of  7

The witnesses have been asked to answer the initial questions below and the Panel will 
have the opportunity to have further questions of the witnesses on their evidence. The 
witnesses are: 

5.1     Legal Services ABS
At 18:05 representative(s) from a local authority ABs (Invicta Law (Kent Legal) will attend 
to answer the following initial questions:

   
 What work is needed to set up a ABS? 
 What sort of structure works best?
 How profitable can a ABS be?
 What volume of work is needed to make a ABS profitable?
 What is needed to make a ABS successful?
 What sort of services are provided for voluntary and public sector organisations?

          
5.2    Social Housing Market
          At 18:35 social housing market representatives from registered social landlords will 

attend to answer the following initial questions:

 What sort of legal advice do social housing market providers require?
 Where do they get that advice from currently?
 Is the advice sufficient for the providers’ purposes?
 How much could the providers afford to pay for legal advice?
 How many providers would be interested in getting legal advice from the council if it 

provided it?

5.3   Voluntary Sector
At 19:05 Citizens Advice will attend to answer the following initial questions:

 What sort of legal advice do voluntary groups/community groups require?
 Where do they get that advice from currently?
 Is the advice sufficient for the groups purposes?
 How much could groups afford to pay for legal advice?
 How many groups would be interested in getting legal advice from the council if it   

provided it?

5.4    Panel Recommendations
         From 19:35 the Panel will consider the evidence heard and decide how it may wish to the 

answer the question should the Council extend its legal services to offer services to the 
third and public sector?

6.0    Financial implications
At this stage, Scrutiny Panel is requested to consider policy development in this area.  
Recommendations made by the Panel on review of the evidence may have associated 
financial implications.  Those financial implications would be explored in a future report to 
Cabinet if required. [GE/07092017/O] 

Page 12



This report is PUBLIC– 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 7 of  7

7.0 Legal implications
There are none at this stage as the Scrutiny Panel is looking at how the Council could 
develop its policy in this area. Any recommendations from the Panel’s consideration of 
the evidence may have legal implications but these would be included, if needed, in a 
report to the Cabinet in response to those recommendations. (RB/1092017/O)

8.0 Equalities implications
There are none at this stage as the Scrutiny Panel is looking at how the Council could 
develop its policy in this area. Any recommendations from the Panel’s consideration of 
the evidence may have equalities implications but these would be included, if needed, in 
a report to the Cabinet in response to those recommendations.

9.0 Environmental implications
There are none at this stage as the Scrutiny Panel is looking at how the Council could 
develop its policy in this area. Any recommendations from the Panel’s consideration of 
the evidence may have environmental implications but these would be included, if 
needed, in a report to the Cabinet in response to those recommendations.

10.0 Human resources implications
There are none at this stage as the Scrutiny Panel is looking at how the Council could 
develop its policy in this area. Any recommendations from the Panel’s consideration of 
the evidence may have human resources implications but these would be included, if 
needed, in a report to the Cabinet in response to those recommendations.

11.0 Risk implications
There are none at this stage as the Scrutiny Panel is looking at how the Council could 
develop its policy in this area. Any recommendations from the Panel’s consideration of 
the evidence may have risk implications but these would be included, if needed, in a 
report to the Cabinet in response to those recommendations.

12.0 Corporate landlord implications
There are none at this stage as the Scrutiny Panel is looking at how the Council could 
develop its policy in this area. Any recommendations from the Panel’s consideration of 
the evidence may have corporate landlord implications but these would be included, if 
needed, in a report to the Cabinet in response to those recommendations.

13.0 Schedule of background papers
           The Law Society of England and Wales - the Future of Legal Services
           Society of Local Authority Chief Executives 2014 report -  Are legal services special?
           Local Government Lawyer – the legal department of the future
           Local Government Association - Enterprising councils
           Creation of alternative business structure – Essex Legal Services

Page 13

http://www.lawsociety.org.uk/news/stories/future-of-legal-services/
http://www.solace.org.uk/knowledge/reports_guides/Are_legal_services_special.pdf
http://www.localgovernmentlawyer.co.uk/ldotf/files/inc/e09599e436.pdf
https://local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/getting-most-trading-and--263.pdf
https://cmis.essexcc.gov.uk/Essexcmis5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=OJ6tdKWY7oVuHH7tTiaTO0%2BZJZC7zlVHKktyiNIovVzws3uUqJl3AQ%3D%3D&rUzwRPf%2BZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3D%3D=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2FLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3D%3D&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3D%3D=hFflUdN3100%3D&kCx1AnS9%2FpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3D%3D=hFflUdN3100%3D&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2BAJvYtyA%3D%3D=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&FgPlIEJYlotS%2BYGoBi5olA%3D%3D=NHdURQburHA%3D&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3D


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	5 Legal Services

